IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,963

QUESTION PRESENTED

Does the Florida Workers' Compensation Law preclude actions by employees against their corporate employers for intentional torts even though the injuries were incurred within the scope of their employement?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case presents a question of great public importance. The issue of whether employees are precluded from suing their employers for intentional torts must be addressed by this Court in order for there to be a definitive interpretation of the Workers' Compensation Statute as it applies in this regard. Petitioner contends that the Workers' Compnesation law must not be construed in such a manner as to give employers a shield against liability for their intentional misconduct. Absent an exception to the exlucive liability provision contained in the Act, employees are free to inflict injury upon their employers and knowingly and recklessly disregard the safety concerns of their employees. Allowing employees to sue their employers for intentional wrongs is consistent with the public policy of deterring willful and wanton conduct and of requiring the tortfeasor to bear the financial burden of his own misconduct.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioners, CARL LAWTON and MARY LAWTON, appeal the final order rendered on August 28, 1985 by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, affirming a summary judgment entered by the trial court in favor of the Respondent, ALPINE ENGINEERED PRODUCTS, INC. The Fourth District Court of Appeal certified, as a matter of great public importance, the following question to this Court:

DOES THE FLORIDA WORKERS' COMPENSATION LAW PRECLUDE ACTIONS BY EMPLOYEES AGAINST THEIR CORPORATE EMPLOYERS FOR INTENTIONAL TORTS EVEN THOUGH THE INJURIES WERE INCURRED WITHIN THE SCOPE OF THEIR EMPLOYMENT?

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(V).

The Petitioner, CARL LAWTON, was employed by the Respondent, ALPINE ENGINEERED PRODUCTS, INC., as a punch press operator. On January 5, 1981, while in the course and scope of his employment with ALPINE, MR. LAWTON was severely injured when his hand was crushed in a punch press. At the time of the accident, MR. LAWTON, was making adjustments to the punch press, pursuant to the instructions of his supervisors.

MR. LAWTON applied for and received workers compensation benefits from ALPINE'S carrier. Because of the severity and permanency of MR. LAWTON'S injuries (his hand was mangled and he lost all of his fingers on that hand), MR. LAWTON, filed suit against the manufacturer of the subject press, Federal Press Company in June, 1981. MARY LAWTON, his wife, joined him in the

suit, seeking money damages for loss of consortium.

During the course of discovery, the Plaintiffs learned that ALPINE had received numerous written communications from Federal Press Company informing ALPINE that point of operation guards should be provided on the press and that the operators should be instructed about the various dangers involved in operating the press. These communications were dated from February, 1972 through August, 1980 and were attached to and incorporated into Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint.

Based upon information received during discovery,

Plaintiffs sought leave of court to name ALPINE as a party

defendant. Leave to amend was granted on June 8, 1984. (R.-16).

On October 30, 1984, Plaintiffs again sought leave to amend their

Second Amended Complaint to include a Count for fraud against

ALPINE. (R 34-65). The trial court granted Plaintiffs' motion and
the Third Amended Complaint was served. (R.-66).

Following service of the Second Amended Complaint,
ALPINE filed a motion for summary judgment. ALPINE based its
Motion for Summary Judgment on the theory that Plaintiffs'
exclusive remedy was under the workers' compensation law of the
State of Florida, and because MR. LAWTON had applied for and
received workers' compensation benefits, ALPINE was immune from
tort liability.

ALPINE directed its Motion for Summary Judgment against the Third Amended Complaint as well, on the theory that regardless of whether Plaintiffs sought to hold ALPINE responsible for either gross negligence or an intentional tort ALPINE was still entitled

to immunity from suit.

On November 5, 1984, the Honorable George Richardson, Jr., Circuit Judge for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, heard ALPINE'S Motion for Summary Judgment, as directed against the Third Amended Complaint, and granted Summary Judgment in favor of ALPINE. (R.1-15, 97 and 98).

Judgment to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the decision of the trial court upon the authority of Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Co., 472 So.2d 871 (Fla. 4th D.C.A. 1985). However, as was done in Fisher, supra, the court certified the above stated question to this court as a matter of great public importance. The respondents filed a motion for rehearing and/or clarification on September 4, 1985. The Fourth District denied the Motion on October 28, 1985.

Petitioners filed a timely notice of appeal seeking to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedures 9.030(a)(2)(A)(V) on November 25, 1985.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FLORIDA WORKERS' COMPENSATION STATUTE DOES NOT PRECLUDE AN ACTION BY AN EMPLOYEE AGAINST HIS EMPLOYER FOR AN INTENTIONAL TORT.

The Florida Worker's Compensation Act does not provide compensation for injuries or death which are caused by intentional acts. As a result, workers' compensation is not any remedy, much less an exclusive remedy, for employees who are intentionally injured by their employers. Florida Statutes Section 440.09 provides in pertinent part:

"Compensation shall be payable under this Chapter in respect to disability or death of an employee if the disability or death results from an <u>injury</u> arising out of and in the course of employment. (emphasis added)

The act goes on to define "injury" as follows:

"Personal injury or death by <u>accident</u>, arising out of and in the course of employment." (emphasis added)
Id. at Section 440.02

Under the terms of the statute, the event causing the disability or death must be an accident in order for the employee to be eligible for compensation. Since an accident is an event or happening which is unexpected or unintended, there can be no

compensation if the death or disability is caused by an intentional act. Because the act was apparently not intended to cover intentional torts, injured employees must be allowed to sue their employers for intentional wrongs. To construe the statute otherwise would mean that employees who are intentionally injured have no redress whatsoever against their employer and that employers have license to knowingly and intentionally subject their employees to harm.

Act does not preclude suits by employees against their employers for intentional acts was recognized by the First District Court of Appeal in Schwartz v. Zippy Mart, Inc., 470 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1985). In Zippy Mart, the Plaintiffs filed suit against their employer, Zippy Mart, and against another employee of Zippy Mart for various sexual assaults and batteries which had been committed by the employee in the course and scope of his employment. The Plaintiffs alleged that Zippy Mart was liable for the assaults and batteries under the respondeat superior doctrine and also alleged that Zippy Mart was liable based upon its negligent hiring, supervision and retention of its employee. The

The definition of "accident" as used within the context of Workers' Compensation Acts has been defined as "an event that takes place without one's forsight or expectation; an undesigned, sudden, and unexpected event;... Its synonyms are undesigned unintended, chance, unforsee, unexpected, unpremedicated..."

(emphasis added) Blacks Law Dictionary at p.31 (rev. 4th ed.)

First District Court of Appeal affirmed a Summary Judgment entered in favor of Zippy Mart on the grounds that Workers' Compensation provided the exclusive remedy to the Plaintiffs. The Court noted however, that "an employer... cannot intentionally injure an employee and enjoy immunity from suit." Id. at 1135. Accord Brown v. Winn Dixie Montgomery, Inc., 427 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 1st D.C.A., 1983). In Zippy Mart, however, the employer had not commanded or expressly authorized the batteries performed by the employee and therefore, there was statutory immunity since the only allegation regarding the employer's liablity was based upon simple negligence. Id. at 1135.

Judge Wentworth noted in his concurrence that if the employer had had prior notice of the employee's wrongful acts, it would be possible to find an "inferred wilfulness" on the part of the employer. <u>Id</u>. at 1136. In such case, there would be no legal or moral reason to preclude civil suit against the employer.

Judge Wentworth further stated:

The extension of statutory immunity for civil actions for wilful conduct could effectively result in a license for employers to permit harassment with virtual impunity... I perceive no legislative intent to shield employers, individual or corporate, from direct civil liability for intentional torts or actions based upon employer conduct which might inferentially support a finding of wilful intent. Id. at 1136

In the Ohio Supreme Court case of <u>Blankenship v.</u>

<u>Cincinnati Milacron Chemicals</u>, 433 N.E. 2d 572 (Ohio 1982), the

Court was required to construe the Ohio Workers' Compensation

Statute as it applied to intentional torts committed by employers.

The Ohio Statute is substantially similiar to the Florida Statute.

Section 4123.74 of the Ohio Revised Code Annotated provides in pertinent part:

No employee of any employer, as defined in division (B) of Section 4123.01 of the Revised Code, shall be liable to respond in damages at common law by statute for any injury or occupational disease received or contracted by any other employee of such employer in the course of and arising out of the latter employee's employment or for any death resulting from such injury or occupational disease on the condition that such compensation under Sections 4123.01 to 4123.94, inclusive of the Revised Code.

The Ohio Statute, like the Florida Law, goes on to define injury as follows:

"Injury whether caused by external accidental means or accidental in character and result received in the course of and arising out of the injured employees' employment." Id. at 4123.01

The Ohio Supreme Court concluded that the act was not intended to cover intentional acts by employers. The court reasoned as follows:

The Workers' Compensation system is based on the premise that an employer is protected from a suit for negligence in exchange for compliance with the Workers' Compensation Act. The Act operates as a balance of mutual compromise between the interests of the employer and employee whereby employees relinquish their common law remedy and accept lower benefit levels coupled with the greater assurance of recovery and employers give up their common law defenses and are protected from unlimited But the protection afforded by the liability. Act has always been for negligent acts and not for intentional tortious conduct. Indeed, Worker's Compensation Acts were designed to improve the plight of the injured worker, and to hold that intentional torts are covered under the Act would be tantamount to encourage such conduct, and this clearly cannot be reconciled with the motivation, spirit and purpose of the Act. Id. at 577.

The interpretation that the Florida Worker's Compensation Statute excludes coverage for intentional torts is consistent with the statutory provision regarding the acts of fellow employees. Under the Florida Statute, an employee is granted immunity when he injures a fellow employee within the scope of his employment. Fla. Stat. Section 440.11. when the employee acts "with wilful and wanton disregard or unprovoked physical aggression or with gross negligence" he is not entitled to immunity from liability. Petitioner acknowledges the statement by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Company, 10 F.L.W. 1751 (Fla. 4th DCA, July 17, 1985), that had the legislature intended to expand employer liability for intentional torts as was done for fellow servants, then a similiar provision would appear in the act. at 1751. However, under a strict interpretation of the Workers' Compensation Law, no such similiar provision is necessary. Because compensation is only paid for accidental injuries and death the exclusive remedy provision is not implicated. The policy against permitting a wrongdoer to benefit from his wrongful conduct mandates that the Workers' Compensation Act be interpreted so as to permit an employee's action against the employer for intentional wrongdoing.

II AN EMPLOYEE WHO IS INJURED DUE TO HIS EMPLOYER'S WILLFUL OR WANTON CONDUCT SHOULD BE ENTITLED TO MAINTAIN A CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST HIS EMPLOYER.

A growing number of state courts and legislatures

have made it possible for an employee to bring a cause of action against his employer for injuries sustained as a result of the employer's reckless disregard for the safety of the employee. For example, in the West Virginia Supreme Court case of Mandolidis v. Elkins Industries, Inc., 246 S.E. 2d 907 (W.Va., 1978), an employee was injured in the course and scopeof his employment while using a table saw that lacked a safety guard. The employer was fully aware of the dangers created by the lack of the safety device but nevertheless required the employees to use the saw whithout a guard. The court determined that the employer could be held liable in a separate civil suit for willful, wanton and reckless misconduct. Id. at 922.

v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 487 F.Supp. 714 (N.D. III.

1978), denied a motion to dismiss filed by Johns-Manville

against a group of employees who had been injured through the

inhalation of toxic chemicals while on the job. The court, in

applying Illinois law, noted that at least one other court had

held that intentional torts are not the type of risks of

employment that are contemplated by the Workers' Compensation

Statute. Id. at 716.

Several other jurisdictions have likewise held that employees should be able to recover from their employers for intentional acts and wilful and wanton misconduct. See e.q. Blankenship v. Cincinnati Milacron Chemicals, supra, at 572; Wade v. Johnson Controls, Inc., 693 F.2d 19 (2d. Cir. 1982); Ky. Rev. Stat. Section 342.012 (repealed) (1983); Ohio Rev.

Stat. Ann. Tit. 41 (1980); Or. Rev. Stat. Section 656.018 (1983); Vt. Stat. Ann. Tit. 22 Section 618.622; (1985 Supp.); Wash. Rev. Code Ann. Section 51.24-020 (1986 Supp.); W. Va. Code Ann. Section 23-4-2 (1983). Furthermore, a significant number of jurisdictions permit injured employees to receive percentage increases in the compensation award where the employee has been guilty if intentional misconduct.

Johns-Manville Product Corp. v. Contra Costa Superior Court, 612 P.2d 948, (Cal. 1980); Annot., A.L.R. 4th 778(1981). See generally Larsons, Workermen's Compensation, 69.20 p. 13-57. Such rulings and legislative enactments evidence the significant concern for safety in the workplace and for the satisfactory redress for worker's injuires caused by intentional acts of the employer.

employers for their intentional acts, employers could no longer knowingly and intentionally expose employees to hazardous working conditions without subjecting themselves to tort liability. Moreover, employers would be less likely to make economic decisions that favor the employer but compromise the safety of the employee. See Blankenship, supra at 572. Since a strong policy behind the Workers Compensation Action is to encourage employers to provide a safe work place it is only logical that employers be held legally responsible for damages which occur when they intentionally disregard the safety of their employees.

III. IT IS AGAINST THE PUBLIC POLICY OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA TO ALLOW A WRONGDOER TO BENEFIT FROM HIS ACTIONS OR TO INSURE AGAINST HIS INTENTIONAL TORTOUS ACTS.

Under Florida law, one cannot obtain liability insurance coverage for punitive damages which may be awarded due to a tortfeasor's wrongful conduct. <u>U.S. Concrete Pipe Company v. Bould</u>, 437 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1983). The rationale for this prohibition is that the public policy behind punitive damages - to punish and deter - would be frustrated if one could insure against such damages. <u>Id</u> at 1064. As Justice Ehrlich stated in his concurrence in <u>U.S. Concrete Pipe Co., supra</u>:

The purpose of punitive damages is, as the name indicates, to punish one who's wrongdoing surpasses mere mistake, negligence or thoughtlessness and to deter others from similiar misconduct. When a tortfeasor has acted with wanton or wilful disregard of the safety of others, punitive damages are imposed as a measure of society's dissapproval of such conduct. If the burden of paying the penalty may shifted to an insurer, and ultimately to society at large, the wrongdoer has no impetus to learn his lesson and chage his behavior"

Id at 1066.

Since the workers compensation system is a form of insurance, it follows that an employer should not be allowed to insure against injuries caused by his willful and wanton acts.

See Blankenship, supra at 577. By immunizing the employer from tort liability, the act leaves the door open for a multitude of abuses and provides no deterent whatsoever to wrongful conduct

by the employer. Moreover, when the employee's injuries are substantial and the workers' compensation received inadequate to fully compensate the individual, the inherent unfairness of the exclusive liability provisions is exacerbated.

As previously noted, an injured employee may recover from a fellow worker who has intentionally injured him. When an injured employee sues a co-employee, the employer or his insurer may be required to defend the co-employee who is responsible, if the co-employee was grossly negligent but still acting within the scope of his employment. Furthermore, the employer and/or his insurer may still be ultimately liable. In such case, the policy reasons for precluding suits by an employee against his employer for intentional misconduct are no longer viable. Additionally, an employer may still be liable for indemnity despite the exclusive liability provision of Florida Statute 440.11(1). L.M.Duncan & Sons, Inc., v. City of Clearwater, 10 F.L.W. 596 (Fla. Nov. 14, 1985).

In conclusion, where an injured employee can show that through corporate decisions and policies, the corporate officers have embraced a course of conduct which involves fraudulent misrepresentation as to the safeness of the work place, there is no basis in public policy for protecting the employer from civil suit. The Workers' Compensation exclusivity provision should not be allowed to serve as a shield for intentional misconduct on the part of the employer.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the Florida Workers'
Compensation Act should be construed so as to allow an employee to
sue his employer for damages resulting from intentional
misconduct. ALPINE'S failure to provide point of operation guards
on their punch press machines when they had full knowledge of the
dangerous propensities of the machine if operated without such a
guard, constituted willful and wanton misconduct done in complete
and total disregard and indifference to the safety of MR. LAWTON.
Such conduct thwarts an important avowed purpose of the Workers'
Compensation Act; that of providing workplace safety.

The Summary Judgment entered by the Trial Court in favor of ALPINE on the basis of the exclusivity provision in the Workers' Compensation Statute should be reversed and the Plaintiffs should be entitled to proceed with their claim through trial.