IN THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,963

CARL LAWTON and MARY LAWTON,)

Petitioners,)

vs.)

ALPINE ENGINEERED PRODUCTS,)
INC.,)

Respondent.)

CLERK OF THE COURT
By: *[Signature]*
Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL PURSUANT TO FLA.R.APP.P. 9.030(2)(B)(i)
FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
ALPINE ENGINEERED PRODUCTS, INC.

John P. Kelly, Esquire
FLEMING, O'BRYAN & FLEMING
Attorneys for Respondent
1415 East Sunrise Boulevard
P.O. Drawer 7028
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33338

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

The only reasonable inference from this statutory language is that willful and wanton conduct by a co-worker, will permit a common law action for intentional tort against that co-worker, but not against his employer. Were it otherwise we are of the opinion that this fellow employee exception for willful and wanton conduct would have to be statutorily expanded to include the employer. As written it does not ... If the Legislature did not intend to immunize employers from intentional torts, it would have been unnecessary to expressly except intentional torts from the immunization of fellow employees.

472 So.2d at 872 (emphasis added). Significantly, Petitioners have cited no case in which a court has created an intentional tort exception to the rule of exclusivity when the statute in force already contained such an exception regarding co-employees. Indeed, such a judicial creation would render

meaningless both the co-employee exception and the provision that an employer's liability under the statute is in place of "all other liability."

The Fourth District, in its decision in the companion case of Fischer v. Shenandoah General Constr. Co., supra, found "the entire underlying premise of Workers' Compensation law is to permanently remove servants and their masters when acting within the scope of employment from the tort arena." 472 So.2d at 872. This Court succinctly stated the scope of the exclusivity provision in Protectu Awning Shutter Company v. Cline, 16 So.2d 342, 343 (Fla. 1944):

The Act removes all question of negligence, assumption of risk or wrong doing on the part of the employer.

The Petitioners' solitary argument against the plain language of the Statute is that the Act covers only an "injury" arising out of and in the course of employment, and that injury is defined in the Act as, "personal injury or death by accident, arising out of and in the course of employment." Fla.Stat. §440.02. The Petitioners' reasoning is that an intentional tort can never be an "accident" and, therefore, cannot be covered by the provisions of the Act.

The Petitioners' reasoning is that while the statute does employ the statutory definition of "injury," it fails to include the statutory definitions of "accident":

"Accident" means only an unexpected or unusual event or result, happening suddenly."

Fla.Stat. §440.02 (emphasis added). Contrary to Petitioners' argument, the statutory definition of "accident" is not inconsistent with an intentional tort in any way. In fact, in Brown v. Winn-Dixie Montgomery, Inc., 469 So.2d 155 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the First District had occasion to examine the question of whether an intentional tort could be considered an "accident" within the meaning of the Worker's Compensation Act. The Brown case involved the fondling of an employee by her supervisor. In attempting to state a common law cause of action against her corporate employer, one of the arguments advanced by the Plaintiff was that since she was alleging an intentional tort, such could not be considered an "accident" under the Worker's Compensation law. Noting that accident means only an unexpected or unusual event or result happening suddenly, the First District rejected the Plaintiff's contention:

Such contention is without merit. In a number of prior decisions, assaults and intentional torts have been held to be compensable as accidents arising out of and in the course of employment.

Id. at 158.

(Citing Hill v. Gregg, Gibson and Gregg, Inc., 260 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1972); Prahl Brothers, Inc. v. Phillips, 429 So.2d 386, 387 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Tampa Maid Seafood Products v. Porter, 415 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

In short, the Florida Workers' Compensation Act, as enacted, precludes an intentional tort action against an employer for injuries occurring in the course and scope of the employment.¹ To hold otherwise would render meaningless the exclusivity provision and the willful act exception to co-employee immunity. The certified question, therefore, must be answered affirmatively.

¹While Petitioners argue that this result is harsh, it is a manifestation of the trade-off of rights between employer and employee which allows the system to operate with unarguable benefits to society. *Seaboard Coastline Railroad v. Smith*, 350 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1978). Of course, since the Act does include an intentional tort exception to exclusivity for co-employees, the victim of such a tort is not left without an additional remedy in conjunction with Worker's Compensation benefits. While a common law action against the corporate employer is precluded, an intentional tort action against other corporate employees, including corporate officers and directors as individuals, is permissible under the statute. See, e.g. *Chorak v. Naughton*, 409 So.2d 35 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981); *West v. Jessop*, 339 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). Moreover, in most situations such an action would be more appropriate than an action against the corporate employer. As stated by Professor Larson:

When the person who intentionally injures the employee is not the employer in person nor a person who is realistically the alter ego of the corporation, but merely a foreman, supervisor, or manager, both the legal and moral reasons for permitting a common law suit against the employer collapse, and a substantial majority of modern cases bar a damage suit against the employer.

2A Larson's Workmen's Compensation Law, Section 68.21 (1982).

IV.

THE AUTHORITIES CITED BY PETITIONERS FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS ARE NOT GERMANE TO A CONSTRUCTION OF FLORIDA'S WORKERS' COMPENSATION STATUTE.

The bulk of Petitioners' Brief discusses cases from other jurisdictions in an attempt to persuade the Court to judicially create, in spite of the statutory language, an intentional act exception to the exclusivity provision of the Workers' Compensation Act. Additionally, since the allegations of Petitioners' pending complaint at most allege gross negligence (as opposed to a specific intention to cause the injury) Petitioners urge the Court to allow such allegations to suffice as "intent" in the proposed judicial creation. In support of this expansive concept of "intent" Petitioners place heavy reliance upon cases such as Mandolidis v. Elkins Industries, Inc., 249 S.E.2d 907 (W.Va. 1978). The expansive view of "intent" announced in Mandolidis, which Petitioners embrace, has been firmly rejected not only in the vast majority of jurisdictions which have enacted intentional act exceptions, but also in West Virginia itself, where the decision was effectively reversed by a legislative amendment to the Workers' Compensation Act.

At the outset, it should be pointed out that in most states where there is an intentional act exception to the

exclusivity provisions of Workers' Compensation, that exception exists because it has been statutorily enacted by the legislatures of the states. For example, the States of Arizona, Louisiana, Oregon, Washington, and West Virginia have enacted statutes which expressly provide that an intentional tort committed by an employer falls outside the scope of their exclusivity provisions. See, ARIZ.REV.STAT.ANN. §23-1022; LA.REV.STAT.ANN. §23:1032; or REV.STAT. §656.156(2); WASH.REV.CODE.ANN. §51.24.02; W.VA. CODE §23-4-2.

While courts in some states have interpreted their state's statutes to allow the bringing of an intentional tort action against an employer by any employee where such is not expressly provided in the statute, Petitioners have cited no case, nor has research revealed any case, where a statute containing provisions such as Florida's §440.11 has been interpreted to allow such an action against an employer. Specifically, it has not been held that an intentional tort action against an employer is permissible where the statute: 1) Provides that an employer's liability under the Act is in place of "all other liability,"; 2) Extends the same immunity from suit to co-employee's; and 3) Includes an exception to the co-employee's immunity, but not the employer's immunity, for intentional acts.

Petitioners urge the Court to judicially legislate an amendment to the Workers' Compensation Act as passed by the

Legislature, stating that policy arguments and the enactments of other states would justify such an action. Such is not the case. As the Eleventh Circuit recognized in Libertarian Party of Florida v. State of Florida, 710 F.2d 790, 794 (11th Cir. 1983):

A court is no more free to impose the legislative judgments of other states on a sister state than it is free to substitute its own judgment for that of the state legislature.

Indeed, this Court has long recognized the impropriety, and the dangers, of such a judicial excursion into the legislative field. Justice Matthews eloquently addressed this issue in Pepper v. Pepper, 66 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1953):

The courts have been diligent in striking down acts of the Legislature which encroached upon the Judicial or the Executive Departments of the Government. They have been firm in preventing the encroachment by the Executive Department upon the Legislative or Judicial Departments of the Government. The Courts should be just as diligent, indeed, more so, to safeguard the powers vested in the Legislature from encroachment by the Judicial branch of the Government.

The separation of governmental power was considered essential in the very beginning of our Government, and the importance of the preservation of the three departments, each separate from and independent of the other becomes more important and more manifest with the passing years. Experience has shown the wisdom of this separation. If the Judicial Department of the Government can take over the Legislative powers, there is no reason why it cannot also take over the Executive powers; and in the end, all powers of the Government would be vested in one body. Recorded history shows that such encroachment ultimately results in

tyranny, in despotism, and in the destruction of constitutional process.

66 So.2d at 284.

The Workers' Compensation statute is obviously not a "non-statutory" field, and the exclusivity provision at issue is not a "court-made rule." In short, the only appropriate body to consider a change in the immunity provision is the Legislature.

Petitioners do not merely argue that the Court should create an intentional act exception where the Legislature has not. Beyond even that, it is suggested that the expansive and widely rejected concept of "intent" employed in Mandolidis v. Elkins Industries, Inc., 246 S.E.2d 907 (W.Va. 1978), and its progeny, should be a part of this new judicial creation.

Contrary to Mandolidis, in those jurisdictions where an intentional tort exception to the exclusivity of Workers' Compensation has been enacted, the overwhelming weight of authority holds that in order to trigger the exception there must have been an actual and specific intent by the employer to injure the employee. Professor Larson's explanation of this widely recognized rule echoes the allegations at bar and illustrates clearly that, even if Florida was among the states which had enacted an intentional act exception, the pending complaint would still be insufficient to state a cause of action:

Even when the conduct of the employer goes beyond aggravated negligence, and includes

such elements as knowingly permitting a hazardous work condition to exist, knowingly ordering claimant to perform an extremely dangerous job, willfully failing to provide a safe place to work, or even willfully and unlawfully violating a safety statute, this still falls short of the kind of actual intent to injure that robs the injury of accidental character.

A. Larson, The Law of Worker's Compensation §68.13, p. 13-8 (emphasis added).

See also, Russell v. United Parcel Service, Inc., 666 F.2d 1188 (8th Cir. 1981).

Petitioners place primary emphasis upon Mandolidis in an attempt to characterize the "gross negligence" allegations of the Second Amended Complaint as an intentional tort. Interestingly, when the Supreme Court of West Virginia decided the Mandolidis case, it did not create an intentional tort exception to the exclusivity provision of the West Virginia Act. Rather, the Mandolidis decision entailed the application of a West Virginia statutory provision enacted in 1913 which explicitly created an exception to the exclusivity provision of the West Virginia Act for injuries resulting from "the deliberate intention of his employer to produce such injury or death." W.Va. Code §23-4-2. (Florida, of course, has not enacted such a provision with regard to employers, but has with regard to co-employees.)

Prior to Mandolidis, the rule in West Virginia was in line with the overwhelming weight of authority in other

jurisdictions in which an intentional tort exception to workers' compensation exclusivity had been enacted. That is, in order to fall within that exception there must have been a specific intent on the part of the employer to cause the injury. The Mandolidis court expanded the exception to include, "willful, wanton, and reckless misconduct." The Court stated that its decision merely provided a definition of "deliberate intention" as used in the West Virginia statute. 246 S.E.2d at 914.

It is instructive to examine what occurred in West Virginia subsequent to the Mandolidis case. In his dissenting opinion Justice Neely stated that the Court was creating a new legal fiction to be known as "constructive intent to injure," which would have the effect of magnanimously supplementing compensation awards in every routine industrial accident. The fear expressed in the Mandolidis dissent was that the new, expansive definition of "deliberate intention" would create excessive litigation outside the Workers' Compensation Act and destroy the concept underlying the exclusivity provision, since claimants would allege in many cases that their injury was caused by "willful, wanton and reckless misconduct."

In fact, the experience in West Virginia following Mandolidis was exactly as the dissenting opinion feared. As was concluded in Mohler, In Wake of Mandolidis - A Case Study of the Recent Trials Brought Under the Mandolidis Theory Courts are

Grappling with Procedural Uncertainties and Juries are Awarding Exorbitant Damages for Plaintiffs, 84 W.Va.L.Rev. 893, 928:

Not only have the number of employee claims increased since Mandolidis but the cost of settlements are rising as well. As Justice Neely predicted, with the proliferation of suits that followed Mandolidis employers are facing many frivolous claims such as the slip and fall cases that have been filed recently. These claims must be met and the prospect of multi-million dollar verdicts has forced many employers to settle, whereas, before Mandolidis employers could rest assured that they were protected by §23-4-2 from most suits by their employees. Now, after Mandolidis, the employers must defend every suit brought since the West Virginia court, in Mandolidis, foreclosed virtually all prospect of obtaining a summary judgment by implying that all cases must go to the jury for a factual determination of whether the employer was guilty of willful, wanton and reckless misconduct.

The West Virginia Legislature reacted to the Mandolidis decision by amending its intentional act exception to provide a definition of "deliberate intention." The Amendment, enacted in February of 1983, amended Section 23-4-2, to provide that deliberate intention is defined as "consciously, subjectively, and deliberately formed intention to produce the specific results of injury or death to an employee." For further rejection of the unworkable Mandolidis standard see Shearer v. Homestake Mining Co., 557 F.Supp. 549 (D.S.Dak. 1983); Houston v. Bechtel Associates Professional Corporation, 522 F.Supp. 1094 (D.D.C. 1981); Kittell v. Vermont Weatherboard, Inc., 417 A.2d 926 (Vt. 1980).

In short, in those jurisdictions which have enacted intentional act exceptions the level of intent required is specific intent to cause injury to the employee. Florida has not enacted an intentional act exception regarding employers, but even if it had the allegation of "gross negligence" at bar would not be sufficient to fall within such an exception. Finally, none of the authorities cited by Petitioners have allowed an intentional tort action against an employer under a statutory scheme like Florida's, which provides that an employer's liability under the Act is exclusive, extends the same immunity from suit to co-employees, and includes an exception to the co-employee's immunity, but not the employer's immunity, for intentional acts.

The Florida Workers' Compensation law does preclude actions by employees against their corporate employers for intentional torts when the injuries were incurred within the scope of their employment. The certified question must be answered affirmatively.

CONCLUSION

The Court need not reach the issue raised by the certified question since a separate and independent basis exists to support the summary judgment for the employee since the employee applied for and accepted Workers' Compensation benefits. The allegations at bar sound in "gross negligence," and thus Petitioners' Complaint is clearly barred by the provisions of Fla.Stat. §440.11, and there is no foundation for the certified question. Therefore, the Petition should be dismissed and the Fourth District's decision should remain intact.

Even assuming that an intentional tort has been alleged by Petitioners, the Florida Workers' Compensation Act, as enacted by the Legislature, precludes an employee from bringing an intentional tort action against an employer for injuries incurred in the course and scope of employment. For all of the foregoing reasons, either the Court must decline to accept jurisdiction or the certified question must be answered affirmatively.